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PREFACE A GRANDDAUGHTER’S MEMORIES


As a child, I was drawn to an old sepia-toned photograph taken in Russia that stood proudly on my great-grandmother’s shelf. The Cabinet Portrait showed her as a stunning young brunette propping up her infant daughter on a four-legged stand. It was my first clue that another world preceded mine, and the image of my great-grandmother and grandmother living a different reality ignited within me a lifetime desire to learn every detail of their past.

When Great-Grandma died in July 1972, I was nine years old and visiting my grandparents in the Adirondack Mountains in upstate New York, as I did every summer vacation. During that visit, it occurred to me that many of our family’s secrets died with the passing of my oldest relative. I regretted not tapping her on the shoulder and asking her, “What was your grandmother’s name?” or “What was your wedding like?” or “Who else in our family missed the boat to America?” I know that she would have been moved and happy had I expressed interest in the family’s past.

So, I did the next best thing. I directed my questions to her daughter, my grandmother Anne. One night I couldn’t sleep, and Grandma came into my room and started humming and patting my shoulder.

“Grandma,” I asked her in the wee hours of the morning, “Why did your mother call you Channa?”

“It’s my Jewish name from Russia,” she answered.

“Please, Grandma,” I begged her, “tell me about when you met the bandits in Russia.”

At first, she didn’t take my interest seriously.

“Honey,” she answered, “wouldn’t you rather I make you a cup of hot chocolate?”

I already knew that my grandmother’s happiest childhood memories, in the years just preceding the Revolution, were of playing and picking flowers on Count Branicki’s estate. As a young girl, I watched as Grandma planted lilac bushes on the property line of my mother’s home in New Jersey. She said that this reminded her of the purple lilacs in bloom that formed a hedge in the count’s botanical gardens, a constant attribute to springtime in her native town, Stavishche, Russia, located today in Ukraine.I

Now I was delving into memories that she would rather forget. Faced with the dilemma of how to entertain a young insomniac, Grandma eventually came to learn that the only way I would fall asleep was by listening to the soft sound of her voice as she described in detail her early childhood in Russia. I was barely old enough then to understand the implication and weight of her words, but I sensed that my mother’s mother had lived through turbulent times that continued to plague her throughout her life.

After hearing my grandmother Anne’s secrets and stories, it became clear to me why she battled with nervous phobias. There were too many “episodes” to count, but her one brave attempt to ride an elevator with me when I was a child made the most lasting impression. On our way to a department store fashion show, wearing matching spring hats, we were unexpectedly directed to an upper floor. When the elevator doors closed, absolute panic set in. Grandma couldn’t catch her breath and anxiously pressed every button to get out.

My grandmother was so fearful of enclosed spaces that even as an elderly lady, she opted to take the stairs. Her claustrophobia was an unwelcome result of the trauma she endured during the anti-Jewish pogroms of 1918–1920,II when she spent her days hiding in crawlspaces. As a little girl, she was caught in pandemonium as her village evacuated, and people ran for their lives. The chaos that she survived shaped fears that haunted her for nearly ninety years.

Grandma Anne’s story is not about the Holocaust but rather a prelude, twenty years earlier, of the horror that was to come. She was a young Jewish girl born into a world that refused to tolerate or accept Jews and their way of life. In fact, she lived in a world that did not want Jews at all.

As a young teenager, I decided that the intelligent thing to do was to tape-record Grandma’s stories so that, in years to come, I could write a biography of the events leading up to my ancestors’ voyage to America. Unfortunately, because of my grandmother’s nervousness, the stories flowed better when the cassette wasn’t turned on. The minute she saw the tape recorder in front of her, she froze.

Grandma Anne finally relaxed after I suggested that she should pretend I was the only one who would ever hear what she said. She began recounting her miraculous tales, and, after dozens of hours of successful storytelling, I was proud of myself for having recorded them for posterity. However, posterity didn’t last as long as I had expected. Late one evening, when I decided to listen to the many recordings, I realized that the machine had malfunctioned; the tapes were blank.

My grandmother, disappointed that so many hours of her storytelling were all in vain, agreed to redo the many taping sessions while waiting for the bus to arrive at her new condominium in Florida to take her to nightly bridge games. During my many visits with Grandma in the late seventies, I followed her, with a microphone in hand, and we bonded at that bus stop.

Grandma Anne’s vivid accounts of her family’s survival during Russia’s deadliest wave of pogroms—when estimates ranging from well over one hundred thousand to nearly a quarter of a million Jews were annihilated during scores of riots that swept across the country—left me searching for answers. I craved more information about this historical nightmare that befell my family in Grandma’s childhood town of Stavishche.

My curiosity only heightened when I discovered that there was almost nothing published about this time period. As a young newlywed contemplating my own future, I could not help but wonder: Where was this mysterious place on the other side of the earth, where my grandmother’s world began and then so abruptly fell apart?

It was upstairs, in a back room of the historic Free Library of Philadelphia, where I first experienced the exhilaration of pinpointing Stavishche on a map. I stood over an old photocopier with a pile of change and printed out sections of the magnified page from a large atlas that covered a thirty-mile radius. I then carefully matched the pages and Scotch-taped them all together. With absolute delight, I circled all the obscure villages near KievIII whose names I had heard over and over again during my own childhood: Stavishche, Skibin, Zhashkov, Tarashcha, Sokolovka, and Belaya Tserkov.

I tucked the map in an envelope, sent it off to Grandma in Florida, and eagerly awaited her reaction. In a letter dated May 25, 1984, I received a thrilling answer. “Dear Lisa,” Grandma wrote. “I’m getting a big kick reading the map you sent. Where were you able to find a blown-up map from the area? I finally saw the town in print, where I was born. Now I can confirm that I was really born somewhere.”

Throughout the years, my thirst for information never ceased. My unyielding determination to piece together the puzzle of the past set me on a path to pursue what has become my lifelong passion—Jewish genealogy. I began by writing to curators around the world, who combed their archives for unpublished, mostly handwritten, documents and manuscripts about the pogroms in her area. Many of these elusive sources had been collecting dust for decades while sitting on shelves in New York City; Washington, DC; Kiev; Warsaw; Jerusalem; and Tel Aviv. With the assistance of a number of talented linguists, mostly volunteers, who pored over the Yiddish, Hebrew, Russian, Ukrainian, and Polish pages, my grandmother’s tales were at last historically validated.

Many years after conducting interviews with my grandmother and the last generation of Jews to live in the town, I was determined to tap one last wealth of unpublished sources—family histories. With doors now opened by the Internet, families with ties to Stavishche living in seven countries around the world shared their personal stories with me. What I didn’t expect during this fascinating journey were the many exciting anecdotes that would emerge of colorful personalities of the day. Their accounts painted a portrait of the town, bringing light to an entire group of people who lived so long ago.

In the end, despite her hesitation and constant battle with nerves, Grandma was at peace with having entrusted me with the details of her most private experiences, knowing that I intended to thoroughly research and chronicle her saga. Scholarly materials and eloquent testimonies from her childhood neighbors that I gathered in the years following our taping sessions are woven into this narrative, enhancing my grandmother’s viewpoint, which remains the fulcrum of the book.

In February 2003, Grandma Anne succumbed to pneumonia and was buried alongside my grandfather—her husband of sixty-six years—at my synagogue’s cemetery in Neptune, New Jersey. The week of her death coincided with a major snowstorm, and the ground was both frozen and muddy. At her graveside, a handful of family members and friends gathered together, shivering under umbrellas, sharing their memories of this wonderful woman. During the eulogy, while a sleet-like rain pummeled us, I stood there thinking that although Grandma finally “went to sleep” (a phrase that she often used referring to death), I would see to it that her stories would never die.

Many thanks, Grandma.


	
I. At the time of Channa’s birth, Stavishche was located in Tarashcha Uyezd (district) and Kiev Guberniya (province) in the Russian Empire, with her official passport stating she was born in Russia. During her childhood in Stavishche, her hometown became a part of Ukrainian People’s Republic/Ukrainian National Republic, and has since endured a long history. Today it is in Ukraine.

	
II. I believe that the full scope of this wave of pogroms was between 1917–1921, but my grandmother’s personal experiences of violence in the region were mostly between 1918–1920. There were also pogroms that extended outside of Ukraine, but the focus of this story is what happened in Ukraine where my grandmother lived.

	
III. The modern name for Kiev is Kyiv.








RUSSIAN JEWISH TIMELINE A BRIEF CHRONOLOGY OF HISTORICAL EVENTS 1881–1921


1881

Tsar Alexander II is assassinated and is succeeded by Alexander III.

Following unsubstantiated rumors that Jews were behind the tsar’s murder, the first of three waves of anti-Jewish pogroms sweeps across Russia. In 1881 alone, 250 attacks are committed against the Jews. The attacks continue until 1884.

1882

Tsar Alexander III passes the May Laws, anti-Jewish regulations that severely restrict the freedom of Russia’s Jewish population.

1892

The anti-Semitic work The Talmud Unmasked: The Secret Rabbinical Teachings Concerning Christians is published in St. Petersburg, Russia.

1894

Tsar Alexander III dies and is succeeded by Nicholas II.

1897

5,200,000 Jews appear in the first census of the Russian Empire.

1903

The newspaper of St. Petersburg, Russia’s Znamya (The Banner), publishes a fraudulent document, The Protocols of Zion, the most notorious work of modern anti-Semitism.

In Kishinev, a three-day pogrom breaks out over Easter, killing nearly fifty Jews. The massacre receives worldwide attention.

A second wave of bloody anti-Jewish pogroms hits Russia from 1903–1906, leaving an estimated two thousand Jews dead.

1904

Russia and Japan fight in the Russo-Japanese War.

1905

In January, the Imperial Guard fires at one thousand peaceful demonstrators who arrive with a priest at the Winter Palace to petition the tsar for better working conditions. During this incident, which becomes known as “Bloody Sunday,” two hundred people are killed and eight hundred are wounded.

Russia’s defeat in the Russo-Japanese War is followed by a revolution in that year, leading to the institution of the Duma.

During the two weeks following the October Manifesto, an estimated three hundred to seven hundred anti-Jewish riots break out during the second wave of pogroms.

The Black Hundredists provoke anti-Semitic sentiments, resulting in numerous pogroms against Russia’s Jews.

1911

Dimitry Bogrov, an agent of Okhrana and the son of a Jewish lawyer in Kiev, assassinates Prime Minister Pyotr Stolypin at the Kiev Opera House while the tsar is in attendance.

1913

The Beilis Trial, a blood libel accusation falsely made against Menaham Mendel Beilis, a Jew from Kiev, causes an international storm of public opinion. It becomes apparent during the murder trial that the evidence was fabricated against him because he is Jewish.

1914

After the assassination of Archduke Franz Ferdinand of Austria in Serbia, World War I breaks out in Europe. Germany declares war on Russia.

1915

German troops invade and occupy the area of Ukraine, where large Jewish populations live in what is known as the Pale of Settlement.

1916

The war continues to go badly for Russia. Tsar Nicholas refuses to make the needed reforms in the government.

The royal adviser Rasputin is murdered by a group of nobles.

1917

The February Revolution is followed by the abdication of Tsar Nicholas II.

The Pale of Settlement is abolished by the Provisional Government.

Alexander Kerensky succeeds Prince George L’vov as prime minister of the Provisional Government. During the October Revolution, the Bolsheviks replace Kerensky with Vladimir Lenin.

1918

The Rada (Parliament) refuses to give up control of Ukraine to the Bolsheviks. They declare the independence of the Ukrainian National Republic. Stavishche, Russia, the hometown of the author’s grandmother, becomes a part of the Ukrainian National Republic.

Bolshevik troops invade Ukraine, but the Germans drive them out.

Russia and Germany sign the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk, marking Russia’s exit from WWI.

A third wave of anti-Jewish pogroms picks up momentum and sweeps across Russia and Ukraine. During the period of civil unrest (1917–1921), it is estimated that anywhere from well over 100,000 to nearly 250,000 civilian Jews are murdered; many thousands of Jews are left homeless, and many thousands of Jewish children are left orphaned.

Tsar Nicholas II, his wife, and their children are murdered by the Bolsheviks.

Germany is defeated by the Allies.

1919–1920

Symon Petliura becomes head of Army and State in Ukraine. His soldiers begin to carry out brutal massacres against the Jews.

Poland and Russia are at war.

Ukraine is caught up in a bloody civil war. The three forces struggling for power are the White Army (who are against the Bolsheviks), the Ukrainian Army (the Nationalists), and the Bolshevik Red Army.

While fighting against the Bolsheviks, both the Whites and Ukrainian forces are responsible for the majority of pogrom massacres being committed against the Jews of Russia. In 1919 and 1920, the greatest concentration of anti-Jewish violence is in Kiev Province and is carried out by various bands controlled by leaders such as (but not limited to) Nikifor Grigoriev and Danylo Zeleny. Petliura and Anton Denikin lead armies that commit massacres against Jewish civilians.

Bessarabia, once an integral part of the Russian Empire, unites with Romania. Jews fleeing from Russia and Ukraine must now cross over a new border, the Dniester River.

1921

The Bolshevik Red Army defeats the Whites and Ukrainian forces.

Famines in both Ukraine and Russia kill millions of people.

The United States enacts an immigration quota that limits the annual number of immigrants admitted into the country. As a result, tens of thousands of Jewish pogrom victims from Russia and Ukraine are stranded in Europe.

As a combined result of the three violent waves of anti-Jewish pogroms in Russia and Ukraine (1881–1884, 1903–1906, 1917–1921) more than two million Jews flee Russia and Ukraine (over the thirty-year period) and emigrate to other lands.






PROLOGUE STAVISHCHE JUNE 15–16, 1919


As dusk fell, a near full moon shone over Stavishche. Isaac and his wife, Rebecca, enjoyed a break from a long workweek, relaxing and celebrating with friends under the moonlight in a courtyard garden. Suddenly, the air erupted with nearby gunshots: Rebecca was panic-stricken. A man ran by and yelled, “Zhelezniak’s thugs! They’re back! There’s more of them—hide!” before dashing away. At almost the same moment, a woman screamed, “Please, no!” A child cried; a plate-glass window crashed. Thugs were bashing in doors and destroying the Jewish shops and homes. Many, like theirs, were attached to both sides of the Stavishcha Inn, behind which they now sat frozen in fear.

“The girls!” Rebecca yelled. The thought of her daughters unfroze her, and she bolted toward the house. Another woman screamed, this time just across the courtyard wall. They were too close. Isaac grabbed his wife’s arm hard, pulling her to her knees. “There’s no time! Root cellar!”

They were just steps from the inn’s cellar, a half-dugout, musty hole under the crumbling corner of the old stables. Here, in the dark, they kept potatoes, bins of dried beans, hanging herbs. The cellar was cool and black. It felt dank and smelled slightly rotten, a hundred years of cobwebs, termite-infested rafters, manure, spilled pickle juice, and mildew. Isaac climbed down and wiggled to the back on his stomach; his wife did more of a crawl, protecting her growing belly from scraping the ground. Their hearts thumped as they lay with their arms around each other. A body thudded against Rebecca: it was her friend Rachel, followed by Rachel’s new husband, Elias.

The shots were more muffled now but still clearly nearby. The never-ending sounds jostled them: crashes of window glass, smashed liquor bottles, boots stomping, splintering of wood as doors were axed open, and then more gunshots. They heard the wild laughter of a group of drunken men.

“Our babies,” Isaac said in her ear. “I have to go get them.”

“It’s too late,” Rebecca whispered back.

Her hand tightened on his arm. “No!” she cried to him, knowing it was the cruelest word. “They’ll see us. They’ll follow us to the children. We’ll all die.”

From outside, more crashes, screams, laughter.

What have I done? Isaac thought, regretting his decision to leave the girls alone in the house.

Rebecca feared the worst. We’ve lost them forever, she thought. The dank root cellar would surely be their own grave; she knew it.

Just minutes earlier, the couple’s evening had begun peacefully. The near full moon meant that the night’s sky would never get completely dark. Yet this longer day of sunlight meant that Rebecca’s sewing continued well into the evening. It was Sunday, just before eight, when the pretty seamstress finally tucked her girls into their small bed in the back room, telling them, “Go to sleep now.” Slightly plump little Sunny, nearly three, snuggled her back against her six-year-old sister, Channa.

Rebecca moved quickly through the tiny living quarters, finishing her chores before heading out of the house. She took only a moment to fix her long, dark hair. Isaac was just arriving from the front room, set up as his shoe factory, where all day long he’d nailed soles onto boots. Sundays were especially long since the day before was Sabbath. Rebecca exchanged a weary smile with her handsome, dark-haired husband.

“The children are asleep?” he asked.

“On their way.”

The couple headed to the courtyard garden out back, near the stables that housed the horses for the guests at the nearby establishment. In a far corner, their neighbors Rachel and Elias, just married, sat and held hands on a bench. Isaac and Rebecca greeted their new friends with a bottle of wine. “Mazel tov!” they wished them, as the foursome raised and clinked together Rebecca’s silver shot glasses in a celebratory toast. Rebecca, resting her hand on her pregnant belly, did not raise the cup to her lips.

The courtyard was still and warm; a late spring dusk appeared. From the street they heard the clop-clop of horse-drawn wagons. They drank and laughed until most of the daylight disappeared after nine.

Inside, in the dark back bedroom, Channa snuggled her sister’s warm body until Sunny stopped wiggling. Then, feeling warm in the June evening, Channa kicked off the blanket and stared at the ceiling. Finally, she, too, dozed off: first fitfully, then so deeply that she didn’t hear the initial gunshots in front of the Stavishcha Inn.

The explosion had their parents sitting bolt upright: Rebecca’s round blue eyes widening, Isaac’s clean-shaven chin jutting from his face. Rachel screamed; Elias covered her mouth.

They waited in the root cellar. Hours of it; it would never end.

As daylight approached, the noises changed. First the commotion stopped. Rebecca and Isaac still lay in place, breathing lightly in rhythm, too afraid to move. Then the screams began again, but these were different: wails by the injured, wails for the dead.

The foursome crawled and then climbed out of the cellar and into the early June sun. From every corner, the neighborhood was coming out of hiding, hugging and crying or screaming next to the victims of the pogrom.I Rebecca and Isaac ran quickly to their house. They opened the back door, which was still closed and intact, and rushed to their daughters’ bed.

Their legs froze in place, preparing for the worst. Rebecca felt an awful pit in her stomach, afraid of what horrible scene they might find. Instead, Channa lay peacefully on her back, and, as usual, her arms were outstretched. Sunny lay in a fetal position, her face pressed into the goose-feathered pillow. But they were breathing. They were sleeping, untouched. They’d slept through it all!

The violent mob had passed over their house!

Rebecca looked at her husband. His cheeks had gone white. Hands shaking, he picked up Sunny, who stretched and smiled. Rebecca broke down and sobbed uncontrollably into Channa’s long, brown hair. Confused, the girls looked around with wide eyes. Everything was exactly as Rebecca had left it: a soaking pot still stood upright on its stand, sewing needles and a small jewel case left on a nightstand remained undisturbed. The girls were oblivious to what had happened.

“Nothing—nothing touched,” Isaac said; wondering, “Why did they spare us?”

“Isaac!” a howl came from outside the front door, followed by loud banging. “Isaac! Isaac Caprove! Your peasant Vasyl has murdered my wife!”


	
I. Note: A violent riot or organized massacre aimed at the persecution of a particular ethnic or religious group, often aimed at Jews in Russia, Ukraine or eastern Europe.








PART I CALM BEFORE THE STORM 1876–1918







CHAPTER ONE FAMILY FOLKLORE


The Get: 1876

It was a matchmaker’s worst nightmare.

Rebecca’s mother, Fay, and her bewildered husband, Samuel, both appeared before the rabbinical court, also known as the beit din, in 1876, for a legal hearing. According to Jewish law, there was a “special rule regarding the get, or bill of divorcement.”I Since the marriage could only be dissolved after her husband handed Fay the get,II young Samuel stood before a rabbi and asked, “Rabbi, in front of my witnesses, I ask you for a divorce from my wife, Fay Berkova, the feldsher Kohen’s daughter.”

The beautiful fourteen-year-old redhead was instructed to remove her engagement and wedding rings. She accepted her divorce decree as her husband had and recited the obligatory words, “Behold, this is your get; thou art divorced by it from me and thou art (hereby) permitted to marry any man.III”

Fay was finally free to marry the man that she loved—Carl Cutler. However, the first man in her life, her father the feldsher, would never forgive her.

Her matchmaker, an important woman in the shtetl, struggled to rebound from such a professional disaster. Just a few years earlier, there were less than five hundred divorces reported among Jewish couples living in the vast area of Kiev Guberniya.IV Divorce was so rare that it never occurred to Fay or her father, Kohen,V that his young daughter with a gorgeous crown of red hair would ever be included in such a statistic. Now the matchmaker’s own unblemished success record was on the line.

Kohen was a talented and successful feldsher, who provided the only medical care for the entire village and its environs.VI The more formally educated doctors treated the wealthy, while feldshers were used by the vast peasant population. As a feldsher, Fay’s father had spent many years away from home in the service of Tsar Alexander II. It had been his professional duty, along with the draft board, to travel from village to village performing medical examinations on those unfortunate young men of age who were being drafted into the tsar’s army.VII When he returned home, he was finally able to enjoy his substantial estate in the rural dorf of Skibin. The gorgeous lilac bushes that he instructed to be planted surrounding his home bore a slight resemblance to those that lined the botanical gardens of Count Wladyslaw Branicki’s palace in nearby Stavishche.

As was common in those days, the newly wed Fay and Samuel were residing for the first year of their marriage with the bride’s family, which was a part of her father’s obligation known as kest.VIII Although Fay was not lacking in material comforts, she was trapped in a loveless marriage and suffered enormously.

The inner turmoil she felt over her unhappy marital predicament began to take both a physical and emotional toll on the young woman. The marriage forced upon Fay by her father and the matchmaker was destroying her. In short, her appetite for life had disappeared; she derived no pleasure from her food, and she could find no comfort in sleep. Fay was so wrapped up in her own emotional pain that when she arrived on foot one Tuesday morning at the bustling marketplace in nearby Stavishche, she collapsed. The noise of the peasants and peddlers bargaining and closing deals around her went silent as she fainted at the feet of two young brothers, Carl and Hertz Cutler, wheat sellers from Skvira and Zhashkov.IX

As her dizziness began to subside, Fay opened her eyes for a closer look at Carl, the tall, blond peddler who had rushed to save her from hitting the ground. Her heart was racing, a sensation that she had never felt before. Fay was not the only one to be instantly lovestruck; Carl immediately felt the exchange of electricity between them. From that day on, Tuesdays were days that the couple met and disappeared from his booth at the market, holding hands during long walks away from the prying eyes of the shtetl. After her shocking divorce, the couple married in a small ceremony under the stars, standing beneath a flower-laden chuppah.

Despite being disowned and cut off from her family’s great resources, Fay and Carl Cutler raised their seven children in Skibin, the same rural dorf where she grew up, whose border with the larger shtetl Stavishche was lined with tall wheat fields. The couple lived off Carl’s meager income as a wheat seller at the fairs in Stavishche and in other nearby markets held on different days in Zhashkov, Tarashcha, and Pyatigory.

Skibin: 1900–1911

A peek into a crystal ball would reveal disasters in 20th-century Russia that would cause devastation to all its subjects, including Fay and Carl Cutler’s growing family. The tsar’s family and other nobles would eventually be murdered, and a revolution, preceded by starvation, violence, and hopelessness, would soon erupt. Estimates ranging from over one hundred thousand to nearly a quarter of a million of Russia’s Jews, many who lived in the region of Kiev, where the Cutler family resided, would be murdered in pogrom massacres that incited peasants to “Kill the Jews and Save Russia!” Many Jews would soon find themselves dreaming of a life across the ocean in the Goldene Medina, the “golden land” where the streets were rumored to be paved with gold.

Fay and Carl’s seven children (in the order of their birth, Shalum, Yunkel, Hiya, Rebecca, Molly, Avrum, and Bessie) would not be immune to that dream as adults.X However, as children, they mostly enjoyed a happy and carefree existence in Skibin, blissfully sheltered from the worries of the world and ignorant of the impending doom that would soon loom over Russia. The few Jewish families who resided in this mostly impoverished countryside village in Tarashcha Uyezd assimilated with their Christian neighbors. Jewish children learned to speak Russian fluently without an accent, thanks to the many hours they spent playing with the local peasant children.

During warm summer evenings, the Cutler siblings intermingled with young peasants their age, setting out in wagons to the forest to congregate by firelight. A peasant boy taught the third youngest, Molly, how to pluck songs on his balalaika, a triangular folk lute popular in Ukraine. Molly played the balalaika as her younger brother and sister sat by her side in the woods singing Russian folk songs.

The four oldest children would come of age and marry before the onset of the Revolution. However, matters of the heart would soon bring two of the couple’s children, son Yunkel and daughter Rebecca (Channa’s mother), to plant roots in the same neighboring town, Stavishche, where both would meet their future spouses under scandalous circumstances.

Yunkel

Yunkel, the couple’s second son, a dashing young man who was slightly shorter and huskier than his two brothers, Shalum and Avrum, bore a handsome face with expressive and kind eyes. Yunkel fell madly in love with Esther Moser, the pretty and feisty daughter of the world-famous cantor of Stavishche, David-Yosel Moser. His love life became complicated, though, after learning that Esther had already been promised to another man.

Esther’s intended groom was a member of another well-known family in her town. In the decade preceding the Revolution, there were two prominent Jewish families in Stavishche. One family was Esther’s, named Moser; the other prominent clan was named Stepansky. The two families had intermarried several times over and were the true Jewish roots of the town. David-Yosel Moser, Esther’s father and the patriarch of the Moser family, was one of the chazzans (cantors) of Stavishche and, as such, held a high position in the Jewish community. David-Yosel became famous throughout Russia for training his brother-in-law, who became one of the world’s first blind cantors, Leaper the Blinder (the Blind One).

As a blind cantor, Leaper was unable to read directly from the Torah, as proscribed by Jewish law, and was forbidden from reciting the words of the scroll by heart. However, Leaper was so talented, and had such an incredible mind, that David-Yosel was able to teach him the entire Haftorah (readings from the Prophets, corresponding to the Torah section read in the synagogue on the Sabbath) by memory. It was through his association with Leaper that David-Yosel became known as an esteemed teacher.

When David-Yosel’s wife, Pessie, was pregnant with Esther, the cantor made a shidduch (arranged marriage) with one of the Stepanskys, whose wife was also expecting a baby at the same time. If these children were born of the opposite sex, which they were, the prospective marriage would be finalized shortly after their births.

This agreement did not sit well with young Esther, who grew up to dislike the Stepansky boy. However, since a written contract of their engagement existed, it could not be broken. In 1903, Esther was pressured to go through with the wedding, but afterward refused to live or sleep with her new husband. Following the nuptials, she had the chutzpah to tell her esteemed father, “You wanted me to marry him, now you go and live with him!” Not surprisingly, Esther’s new (and probably distraught) husband asked the rabbi for a get.

David-Yosel was well aware that his daughter was in love with Yunkel Cutler. In fact, everyone in town knew that Esther was smitten with Yunkel from the moment she laid eyes on him at her uncle Yoske Stepansky’s blacksmith shop. The old cantor soon realized that there was no keeping the young couple apart. The sweethearts then faced only one more potential obstacle. Since the bride-to-be had been married before, it would now be up to the groom’s mother to khapn a keek (grab a look) at her son’s prospective wife to approve of the match.

Although Esther Moser came from a family with a higher social standing than the Cutlers, Fay Cutler, who was once the subject of gossip after her own divorce, nonetheless traveled the traditional road from Skibin to give—or deny—her blessing. After meeting the chazzan’s beautiful young daughter, and seeing the sparkle in her middle son Yunkel’s eyes, Fay’s decision was made easy. “I don’t blame you!” she said to her relieved son, “You SHOULD marry her!”

In 1904, Yunkel Cutler became Esther Moser’s second husband. Yunkel was so in love with Esther that he left behind his profitable business that he shared with his older brother, Shalum, in Belaya Tserkov so that he and Esther could live closer to her family in Stavishche.

In Stavishche they raised two boys, Daniel and Paul, and two girls named Sarah and Sheva.XI Family members endearingly called the girls “the shvesters” (the sisters); the beauties looked almost like twins.

Esther and Yunkel lived on the far side of town, in one of the houses that was built near the river. For decades, the Jews of Stavishche called the river “Lazy Tikatch” because it winded in so many directions. In Russian, it was called “Gniloi Tikich” and in Ukrainian, “Hnylyi Tikych.” The Polish nobles in town called it “Tykicz Gnily.” From their home, the young family could see the factory across the wide body of water where bricks were made, so the landslayt referred to it as “The Brick River.” Further on, there was a part of the same river that was called “Near the Post Office.”

Rebecca

Rebecca, the second daughter born to Fay and Carl, was a statuesque girl with gorgeous, thick black wavy hair that she wore braided and pinned on top of her head. Her eyes were a sparkling blue under dark brows; she was an exotic beauty. In 1909, the nineteen-year-old was involved in a love affair with a handsome young shoemaker named Isaac Caprove, who was older than her by just nine days.

Isaac was the grandson of Rabbi Meir Caprove, originally from Talnoe, who became one of the few prominent and influential spiritual leaders to serve Stavishche during the mid-to-late 1800s. Isaac’s father, Beryl, had died when Isaac was just seven years old, leaving behind a distraught wife, Sarah Leah,XII and five children. Isaac’s mother, who was terribly shaken by her thirty-year-old husband’s death, had no means to support her two sons, Isaac and Moishe, and three daughters, Shifka, Piya,XIII and Rosa, and therefore allowed her father-in-law to step in. The elderly rabbi, who was already raising five other grandchildren who had been tragically orphaned years earlier, placed the young children to live with families across Stavishche. Isaac was sent to a foster home, where he became an apprentice to a shoemaker.XIV

The Caprove siblings would soon face another heartbreaking tragedy: the youngest and most beautiful sister, Rosa, became ill with a fever and she lost her life at age eighteen. Rosa’s devastated siblings gathered together to bury the teenager at the Stavishche cemetery. Her brothers, reciting the words of the Kaddish taught to them years earlier by their grandfather, led the small graveside service.

Isaac had no way of foreseeing that his unfortunate childhood would later lessen his desirability as a groom. Wedding plans were arranged for the happy young couple, and, as was routinely done in those days, official engagement papers, called Tenaim, were signed. Isaac and Rebecca were soon to be married.

But if Rebecca’s oldest brother, Shalum Cutler, were to have had his way, which he almost did, this wedding would never have taken place. Shalum, a wealthy blacksmith in Belaya Tserkov who made his fortune by mass-producing horseshoes and iron wagon wheels for the tsar’s army, had a long history for causing tension among his family members.XV He believed that his social status earned him the right to interfere with the love affair of his younger sister. His unwelcome meddling in Rebecca’s life began when he sent her a letter in which he delivered the following ultimatum:


My Dear Sister,

I was recently informed of your impending wedding plans. I disapprove of your engagement, and, as your oldest brother, forbid it. Marrying Isaac Caprove would be a disgrace to our family. He has such a lowly vocation—a mere shoemaker—and even worse, he’s an orphan! What kind of a life can an orphan offer you? If you marry him, I shall have nothing more to do with you.

Shalum



Rebecca was accustomed to her brother’s interference and took no notice of his letter. She was a headstrong young woman who was very much in love with Isaac and determined to marry him despite her brother’s objections. She felt that Shalum, who lived nearly thirty miles away and hardly ever saw his family, had no right to interfere in her life. Annoyed, she tossed the letter aside, carelessly leaving it on a table.

Soon after, Rebecca’s dashing young suitor, Isaac Caprove, appeared at the door. When there was no response to his knock, Isaac let himself in. He couldn’t help but notice the letter that was lying open on a table beside the family’s steaming samovar. As it was a rare occurrence in those days to receive a letter, he became curious and casually picked it up. Naturally, Isaac was devastated to learn that Rebecca’s brother did not deem him worthy of her hand in marriage.

After reading Shalum’s letter, Isaac’s pride was so crushed that he quietly left town, vanishing from Rebecca’s life for a couple of years. She desperately wanted to contact him but had no way of finding him. Two years passed before Rebecca finally spotted Isaac at the other end of the busy town market. Rebecca pushed her way through the crowd of bargainers and tried to reason with him. “Isaac, we love each other,” she pleaded, “we could be together and live happily.”

Her declaration of unwavering love would not change Isaac’s stubborn mind. When Rebecca saw him leaving the market that day accompanied by her mother’s relatives, it finally occurred to her where he had been living for the past two years. Rebecca felt so betrayed that she declared to everyone around her that she didn’t want to be engaged to Isaac anymore; she now knew where to send him a letter telling him so.

During the two years following his disappearance, Isaac had been living with Fay’s prominent relatives, who also employed him. After returning from that fateful meeting with Rebecca at the marketplace, Isaac discovered from Fay’s relatives the scandalous secret that had plagued Rebecca’s mother’s youth.

Shortly after, Isaac received Rebecca’s letter officially breaking off their engagement. He immediately realized what a fool he had been; it was as if a brick had suddenly fallen from the sky and knocked some sense into him. More than anything, he longed to marry Rebecca, but after two years of constant heartbreak, she no longer wanted him back.

And so the saga continued: When she wanted him, he didn’t want her. When he wanted her, she didn’t want him. This back-and-forth continued until they both reached the age of twenty-one. In Russia, men at that age were automatically drafted into the tsar’s army. Before Isaac went into the army, he came to her with one last plea. “Marry me now, or it’s all over.”

Rebecca may have been stubborn, but she was no fool. Rebecca Cutler married her childhood sweetheart, Isaac Caprove, just three months later, on August 10, 1911.






CHAPTER TWO A TOTAL ECLIPSE


Stavishche: 1911–1917

Soon after his marriage to Rebecca, Isaac was drafted into the Russian army under Tsar Nicholas II. As a member of a select group of young men whose physical fitness rendered them more capable than others to sustain rougher climates, he became a shooter with the 39th Siberian Rifle Regiment. He was sent to Khabarovsk, Siberia, located on the eastern end of the Russian Empire, just nineteen miles from the Chinese border. One could see the shores of China by standing on the Khabarovsk side of the Amur River.

Isaac, along with many other young soldiers from nearby villages, gathered at the station in Belaya Tserkov before traveling forty days and nights by train to get to his unit in Khabarovsk. As his train departed, the new recruit caught a fleeting glimpse of his new bride through the window but had no idea that she was already expecting their first child.

Although Isaac was stationed in Siberia—famous for its exiled prisoners and frigid temperatures—it was the only warm winter that he ever spent in Russia. He slept in a bunk by an ongoing fire in an officer’s wooden cabin, where he was ordered to remain near the heat of the flames to help shape the leather he used in making the commanders’ boots. On his breaks, the young soldier swaddled his feet with flannel portyanki before donning his own boots. Isaac enjoyed time away from his assigned shoemaking duties with long walks in the crisp, Siberian air. It was a dry and pristine climate with the most spectacular snowfall.

Back in Skibin, on August 11, 1912, exactly one year and one day after her parents’ wedding, Channa Caprove, a chubby ten-pounder with large, almond-shaped eyes and a heap of dark hair, entered the world. Shortly after the birth, Rebecca, who supported herself as a seamstress, moved out of her family’s overcrowded homestead in Skibin with her cherub-cheeked baby and into a one-room place six miles away in Stavishche.

The highlight of her social life as a young mother and wife of a soldier was the weekly gathering of her friends at her home every Sabbath evening. Just before sundown, they met by the fields neighboring their local pond and dug up and filled their pails with yellowish clay. The group then looked forward to their main event: they painted Rebecca’s floors after smoothing them over with clay! This seemingly mundane activity gave young people in small shtetlach across Russia an excuse to socialize.

With Isaac away, Rebecca and her group of friends were unaware of the mounting anti-Semitism growing around them. In nearby Kiev, a Jewish superintendent of a brick kiln was falsely accused of murdering a boy in a Jewish ritual blood libel case that drew international attention. Despite the promotion of anti-Jewish sentiments led by the Black Hundreds throughout the trial, Menahem Mendel Beilis was acquitted by a jury in October 1913.

Rebecca also did not know of a minor assassination that took place in another small corner of a long-forgotten empire—one that would soon thrust Russia and its soldiers into a global conflict. The June 28, 1914, murder of Archduke Franz Ferdinand, heir to the Austro-Hungarian throne, by a Bosnian Serb student in Sarajevo set in motion a series of fast-moving events that soon escalated into a full-scale war.

Isaac, preparing for his return home to Stavishche after a three-year stint as a soldier in the largest army in the world, was called back to his post. Russia, which was bound by a treaty with Serbia, announced the mobilization of its vast army in her defense. Isaac soon found himself getting ready for combat in what would later be dubbed “the War to End All Wars.”

World War I—Impending Doom

On the eve of World War I, two-year-old Channa had still never laid eyes on her father. The precocious toddler envied her pretty but skinny four-year-old neighbor, Rose Lechtzer, whose father, Elia, received a medical exemption from serving as a soldier in the tsar’s army and remained home with his family during the war.

Just twenty days after Germany declared war on Russia, Channa and her mother stood in the same crowd as Rose and Elia when a natural phenomenon catapulted over the skies of Stavishche. Channa watched as Rose sat on her father’s shoulders while “looking through a piece of smoked glass at the sun.” Somehow Elia, a bright Jewish wheat and grain dealer, knew that there was a complete eclipse of the sun. “Everyone was sure it forebode an evil event,” Rose would later write.I

It was August 21, 1914, a somewhat cloudy morning, when astronomers from around the world gathered in Russia to stargaze and unlock the secrets of the universe. Curious onlookers flocked to the center of Channa’s village just a few hundred miles north of the Crimean expedition, where the path of the total eclipse of the sun would fall. By midday the clouds seemed to disappear. The superstitious people of Stavishche interpreted the scientifically spectacular event as a sign of impending doom. However, the evil event that the Jews spoke of would not show its ugly face in the pleasant townlet for another three years.



Isaac Caprove finally returned home to Stavishche in 1915 as a war hero. He endured two gunshot wounds to the legs and spent several months lying on his back in a sparse Russian hospital room. While anxiously making his way back to his bride, the newly discharged soldier showed off his war wounds to his childhood buddies, which included a scar where a bullet entered and passed through the soft tissue in his upper thigh. After finally arriving on Rebecca’s doorstep, the biggest news that he would learn, both to his shock and joy, was that he had fathered a little girl.

Soon after his arrival home, the young shoemaker rented one of the many tiny houses that were attached to the Stavishcha Inn and settled his family in the back rooms. At the front of the building was a large display window, where people could look in and watch Isaac in his new boot factory, as he made high leather boots by hand, using the finest nails to attach the soles.

Nine months later, in July 1916,II Channa’s younger sister, Sarah Leah, who was named after Isaac’s mother, entered the world. Isaac, who had missed Channa’s entire infancy, was overwhelmed with happiness at being present for the birth of his second daughter and was in absolute awe of this little creature, whom they nicknamed Sunny. While up until this point, Rebecca had been the sole recipient of Isaac’s adoration, this attention was now superseded by their second child. Sunny forever remained Isaac’s favorite.



Living in a town without running water, the modest Caprove home benefitted from a prime location close to a well. Their vaser deliverer (water deliverer), Chaim-Mayer, performed a daily balancing act with two pails attached to a wooden rod, which hung over his shoulders. He pumped fresh well water into the pails and then filled up the large barrels on top of his wagon before delivering them to his customers. If he missed a few days of work, his customers had to bathe in the bathing pond.

Inside the Caprove family’s house, a large fireplace and chimney, which was heated with wood, straw, or charcoal, resembled a small baker’s oven. It served a dual purpose: to cook and to heat both sides of the wall. The floors, made of hardened clay, were cold, so they would huddle by the fireplace for warmth. Above the oven was a crawlspace that was accessible to Channa and Sunny by climbing a small ladder. The girls passed many evenings there together, where they cuddled to keep warm in their cozy hiding place.

One of the family’s biggest pleasures came during the warmer months, when they took long walks to the outskirts of town. After all their chores were completed, friends and relatives would follow a path to Count Branicki’s estate. All residents of Stavishche were given free access to the grounds of the count’s estate and enjoyed sitting on the benches that were shaded by very old pine and poplar trees leading up to Branicki Palace. In the flat valley where the grand manor house stood in the shape of a horseshoe, it was as if they had accidentally stumbled upon paradise. Botanical gardens with exquisite plants, roses, and lilac bushes were set among wooded rolling hills.

On the slopes of a few hills that were connected to the gardens below, a beautiful, landscaped square had been set up by Count Branicki’s father more than half a century earlier. While standing at the highest point of the Stavishche Park, the Caprove family could look down and see a stunning view of a huge pond linked to the Gniloi Tikich River; from another slope they could see the charming village, filled with white cottages trimmed with green lawns.

Not far from the cottages, up a hill near a wide, old-fashioned Ukrainian road, there stood an old brick windmill weathered by time and missing many of its sails. Artists often sketched the blackened windmill, which also caught the attention and imagination of Polish writer Tadeusz Micinski, who set his novel Wita in Stavishche.

Channa’s bubbe Fay Cutler loved to join her daughter’s family on their walks whenever she was visiting from nearby Skibin. Young Channa always made a point of picking small bouquets of lilacs that grew in the count’s gardens because they were her grandmother’s favorite flowers. The grouping of the purple lilacs in bloom that formed a hedge in the botanical gardens was a constant attribute of springtime in Stavishche. Fay’s eyes lit up at the sight of the vast gardens that were in full bloom. It was almost as if she was reminded of another life as she inhaled the intoxicating fragrances of those lilacs.



As Isaac’s business blossomed, Rebecca hired a maid, a peasant woman named Sophia. For two and a half years, they lived a comfortable life. Since Channa was the daughter of a tsar’s soldier, she was one of a handful of Jewish children who would soon be eligible to attend a Russian gymnasium (school).

To prepare their four-year-old daughter for school, Channa’s parents arranged for an old rabbi to tutor her at home. The children in Stavishche playfully called him “Mosh-calla-zoo-doelus,” a nickname that the old and impatient rabbi failed to appreciate. The first day that he came over to tutor her, Channa infuriated him by running and hiding under a table. “You can’t find me, Mosh-calla-zoo-doelus!” the little girl screamed out to him. She clearly wanted the rabbi to come and search for her; it was all a game. Her embarrassed mother angrily yelled, “Channa, come out this instant!”

The rabbi was educated in the yeshiva; he was considered a melamed (teacher of young children). The scene was reminiscent of that described in the old Yiddish lullaby “Oyfn Pripetshik”:III


Oyfn pripetshik brent a fayerl, Un in shtub iz heys;

Un der rebbe lernt kleyne kinderlech dem alefbeyz;

Un der rebbe lernt kleyne kinderlech dem alefbeyz.

Zet zhe, kinderlech, gedenkt zhe tayere, vos ir lernt do;

Zogt zhe noch a mol un take noch a mol: Komets alef o.

(On the hearth a fire burns, and the room has heat.

And the rabbi teaches all the little ones all their ABCs;

And the rabbi teaches all the little ones all their ABCs.

See now, little ones, listen children, don’t forget it please.

Say it once for me and say it once again, all your ABCs.)



The children who had already mastered their alefbeyz under the tutelage of the old melamed went on to continue their studies at either the Jewish chedar or the Stavishche School, which the peasants simply referred to as “the Teaching Place.”

Although times were still relatively peaceful in town, early signs of religious discord were becoming more frequent at the Stavishche School, where three of Channa’s older cousins, Sarah, Sheva, and Daniel Cutler, were students. Jewish enrollment was severely limited, but the Cutler children were allowed to attend because their father, Yunkel, had once been a master iron worker for the tsar’s army. Two other Jewish girls in town, Dvora Golditch and Rochela Faynzilberg, also attended classes with them.

After peasant boys threw pebbles at Dvora and Rochela as they walked together to school, Dvora’s father, Shika de Potch, insisted on driving them to and from the schoolroom each day in his fancy horse and carriage. In another act of anti-Semitism, the same boys chased Sarah and Sheva and pulled harshly on their hair.

The greatest act of violence was directed at their brother Daniel. With Daniel present, the teacher openly displayed anti-Semitism in the classroom. One day, the school master singled Daniel out when he announced to the class, “Do you know why Daniel was not in school yesterday? Yesterday was a Jewish holiday; Daniel is a Jew.”

The peasant children stared and made faces at him that entire morning in the classroom. After school ended, the children were allowed, and even encouraged, to beat Daniel up. With their teacher’s approval, they tore his clothes and kicked him.

The black cloud that the Jews of Stavishche feared would appear after the moon’s spectacular alignment between the earth and the sun now hovered directly over them.


	
I. Source: Both quotes from this paragraph are from the written family history of Rose Lechtzer/Lichtzer (Lessure) Mayers.

	
II. Sunny’s birth entry was recorded on July 22, 1916, in the metric book for Stavishche. However, it is not known if that was the actual date of birth or the date it was finally recorded. Sunny celebrated her birthday in June.

	
III. “Oyfn Pripetshik” (On the Hearth) is a well-known Yiddish song written by Mark Warshawsky (1848–1907).








CHAPTER THREE A PASSOVER TRAGEDY


April 14, 1917

There were two entrances to their house in Stavishche. The front had a gate, but during the harsh Russian winters it was always snowed in, so the Caprove family was forced to enter through the back door.

It was the last day of Passover—April 14, 1917. Channa was four and a half. She balanced on a window seat and watched through the window as her father, Isaac, and three maternal uncles—Avrum, Yunkel, and Shalum—opened the front entrance that was used only during milder weather. The men carried in a large wooden box.

Her mother and aunts covered all the mirrors and pictures in the house. Channa had no idea what was going on. Now there were so many people—almost one hundred—who came to visit the family in their cramped living quarters.

They were the Jews of Stavishche, who arrived armed with homemade delicacies, such as kugels, rugelach, and challahs. While Channa didn’t recognize everyone, they all knew who she was.

“Channa,” an old woman said as she approached her, “you don’t remember me, but I knew you when you were this big.” As she held up her wrinkled hands as high as Channa’s knee, the girl could hear another elderly lady cornering her older cousin, “Oh, Daniel, I knew you when you were this big.…”

Isaac appeared from a back room, calling out anxiously for another man to make a minyan, a quorum with ten men. He grabbed Uncle Avrum, who, at twenty-one, was the youngest and most handsome of her mother Rebecca’s brothers. They shut the door behind them, but through the paper-thin walls the child could hear the men chanting the Kaddish, the Mourner’s Prayer.

Among the crowd in her house that day were the two Gentile peasants who worked for her father in his shoe factory that was located in the front of the dwelling. Mykola,I a lanky fellow, lived with his parents and three burly brothers on a vegetable farm on the outskirts of Stavishche. This friendly Christian family was proud that Mykola was chosen to be an apprentice of a shoemaker. To most Jews, an apprenticeship to a shoemaker was considered an inferior position, although Isaac himself had started out in this way after he was orphaned. To the Gentile peasants, however, many whose skills didn’t extend much further than farming, it was commendable to have a family member learning a trade.

Standing next to Mykola was the despised peasant, Vasyl. The Jewish merchants in Stavishche refused to employ him because he was a known troublemaker and a thief. Isaac took him under his wing and taught him the shoemaking trade, and, in return, Vasyl was loyal to him.

Vasyl always said that Isaac was the only Jew in Stavishche to ever show him kindness. While many of the Jews visiting the house that day came over to greet Mykola, Vasyl was met with disapproving stares, which he ignored. To him, paying his respects and expressing his sympathy to Isaac and Rebecca before heading home was more important.

Also among the crowd of visitors was Isaac’s only brother, Channa’s handsome uncle Moishe Caprove. Sporting a new thin mustache, he brought with him his plain wife, Bubkah, who was short with black curly hair. Family members whispered that she was frugal, except when spending on her obsession—jewelry. She arrived that afternoon wearing several of her favorite pieces: long necklaces and pins on her dress, as well as a couple of sparkling rings. Running around the Caprove home were the couple’s two young children: a daughter, Sima, the mirror image of her mother, and a young son, Beryl.

Moishe was two years older than Isaac. Everyone in the family adored him, including his sister-in-law Rebecca. Channa watched her mother that day holding on to her baby sister while weeping on Moishe’s shoulder.

Although she didn’t know what was wrong—Channa was just a little girl, after all—she could sense that something terrible had happened. She heard someone talk about death, a word that, up until that day, was foreign to her. Confused, she was determined to investigate. Later that evening, after all the visitors had left, she sneaked out of the bed she shared with her baby sister, Sunny, and into the room where the long pine box rested on a table. She quietly stood on a chair so that she could reach over and see what was inside.

To her horror, she was shocked to discover that inside of this mysterious box lay her grandmother Fay Cutler. She reached over and touched the long strands of her graying red hair. When she felt her forehead, it was cold and clammy. Channa tried pulling at her arm, desperate to wake her up, but she would not move or stir; Channa felt the scream rise in her throat.

Rebecca and Isaac heard Channa’s cries and ran into the room where they found their daughter standing over her dead grandmother. “What happened, Mama?” she shrieked, large tears rolling down her face. “Why isn’t she moving?”

Rebecca gently picked her up and moved away from her own mother’s coffin. Her arms embraced the girl as tears streamed from her own eyes. Rebecca rocked her little girl in her arms and said, “Someday, Channa, there will come a time when the living will envy the dead.”


	
I. Mykola is a Ukrainian masculine name for Nicholas.








CHAPTER FOUR DAYS OF INNOCENCE


Stavishche: Just Before the Revolution

Up until the turn of the 20th century, mostly peaceful times prevailed between Christians and Jews in Stavishche. Nestled in a green valley on the road from Kiev to Uman, the small Russian village remained unscathed during the religious discord that plagued so many of its neighboring towns in 1905.I The Gentiles who broke their backs tilling the soil and the Jewish merchants and artisans who struggled to earn a living on a daily basis tried to respect each other’s hardships.

Stavishche, a land isolated by rivers and ponds and surrounded on one side by an overcrowded pine tree forest, had a long, rich history of Jewish culture and life. By 1763, the Jewish population in town was already well established, with sixty-one Jewish households appearing in a census. One hundred and fifty years later, just prior to the Revolution of 1917, half of the 8,500 residents of Stavishche were Jewish. Most of the Jews were concentrated in the center of town, forming a ghetto. The majority of their houses had clay floors and straw roofs; they were built on crooked streets, with no greenery surrounding them.

On a chilly but sunny spring afternoon in 1917, villagers came out from every corner of town. Rabbi Pitsie Avram and Cantor David-Yosel Moser met at Golub’s bookstore, sitting and discussing the latest newspaper stories on the porch.

“Another false accusation of Jewish blood libel,”II the rabbi read. “It’s been over three years since the acquittal of Beilis, yet their hatred for us grows. They’ll never let us live in peace.”

“That is my prayer—that my grandchildren should only know peace,” David-Yosel answered.

“Ah, speaking of grandchildren…,” the rabbi said, while lifting his bearded face up from behind the newspaper. “I see two of them now. It looks as if Isaac has put Daniel and Sol to work.”

“Indeed, it does.”

The cantor watched as his two grandsons pushed an old wooden handcart piled high with shoes and boots earmarked for deliveries.

It was a familiar sight: Isaac sent his young daughter Channa, along with Rebecca’s nephew, Daniel Cutler, to make deliveries throughout the shtetl. Sol Moser, Daniel’s older cousin and the son of Itzie Moser,III the bakery owner, joined them. The three children were excited. They wandered freely through the one-horse town on Alexandria Street, the main road, which was paved in cobblestone.

As usual, they began their journey at Isaac’s old-fashioned boot factory and were expected to make stops around the village, eventually finishing at the town’s gates, near Count Branicki’s vast estate. Surrounding the Polish landowner’s manor were many stately homes inhabited by those who worked for him. There were very few deliveries on the outskirts of town, where impoverished Christian peasants lived on farms.

The trio looked forward to their interesting encounters with many colorful personalities of their village. As was almost always the case, they first spotted Leaper the Blinder, who lived behind Alexandria Street on the intergesl (side street or alley), not far from the boot factory near the Stavishcha Inn. It didn’t matter what the weather was like, Leaper the Blinder made the trip every day to visit his aunt Haika at the family bakery on the other side of town. Today, the ground was very muddy, but somehow, even though he couldn’t see a thing, Leaper managed to avoid the mud and kept his boots clean!

“How do you do it?” Sol asked.

“My cane guides me…,” Leaper answered.

The local celebrity, who was wearing his signature opera hat and a cape, sensed that Sol was not alone. “Call out to me, children, so I know who’s here!”

“Hello, Leaper!” Daniel said.

“You’re Yunkel’s son,” Leaper said to Daniel.

“Hello, sir!” young Channa said.

“You’re Isaac the shoemaker’s daughter!” he answered.

The children giggled and were thoroughly amused. The blind and brilliant chazzan instantly recognized their voices. It was a game to everyone in Stavishche: Leaper was always right.

“Did you children hear the performance of the famous tenor Pinchas Siegal at the large shul on Synagogue Street last week?” Leaper asked. “He is beginning to call himself Pierre Pinchik.”IV

“Papa said that the crowds rushed to hear his concert, but Pinchas stood there in his tall chazzan hat and refused to sing a single note until there was absolute silence,” Sol answered.

“Yes, since he made his debut a few years ago at the Kiev Synagogue, he has become quite the temperamental performer,” Leaper answered. “And he now wears a hat even taller than mine!

“Good day, children,” the cantor said, tipping his top hat toward the youngsters, “I’m off to greet my favorite tante, Haika de Zhitomir.”

As the blind cantor continued on his way, Daniel questioned Sol. “Why did Leaper say that your mother is from Zhitomir?” he asked. “Hasn’t the Stepansky family always lived here in Stavishche?”

“No, she and her eight brothers and sisters, including my two uncles, Lepe the egg merchant and Yoske the blacksmith, fled from their hometown years ago. There was a pogrom there that killed many people, including children,” Sol answered.

What Sol didn’t mention to his young cousin was that the Zhitomir pogrom was an exceptionally brutal one: Jewish babies were murdered by being thrown into the air and caught on the tips of the bandits’ swords. The Stepansky family resettled in Stavishche, where Haika’s husband, Itzie Moser, grew up. Along with the Moser family, they became, in many of the villagers’ opinions, the true Jewish roots of the town.

Daniel wandered off the main thoroughfare and then flagged over his two cousins. He pointed out the house of Chiah Sura Spivack, well-known in town for practicing her hot “cupping”V techniques on family members to soothe their pain. The children of Stavishche were fascinated by cupping, known as bankes in Yiddish, an ancient Jewish folk remedy similar to acupressure that was popular in Russia in the early 1900s. Although they did not have a shoe delivery for her, the kids peeked through the unsuspecting Chiah Sura’s window, each getting a glimpse of how she magically created a vacuum by air (heated by fire) in glass cups that she placed flush against the skin of her current patient.

“Did you know that Chiah Sura is Avrum Postrelko’s aunt?” Daniel asked Channa, who shook her head. “A few years ago, he escaped exile near Yakutsk and fled to the Holy Land. He now calls himself Avraham Harzfeld and is starting to become a big deal in Eretz Yisrael.”

“No, I didn’t know,” Channa answered, unsure where Eretz Yisrael was. The young girl’s attention was, however, quickly diverted by the appearance of Pitsie Sheynes, the husband of Shika de Potch’s sister Pearl, as he walked down the path that they just strayed from. He was a handsome tailor whom some considered, from head to toe, to be one of the best-dressed men in town. His modern topcoat was only partially buttoned, exposing a fancy suit underneath; he even wore his dress shoes while walking through the muddy thoroughfare.

“I know of two other Pitsies,” Daniel said, and laughed while following Channa back to the cobblestone road. “There is a man called Pitsie Postrel, the overseer of the forest and the keeper of the bathhouse. And the other is…”

“Pitsie Avram!” Sol and Channa shouted out together, laughing in harmony. Everyone in town knew Stavishche’s most famous and beloved “Pitseleh” (an unusual but endearing name, meaning “little one”). He was the esteemed and learned rabbi of the village. The children did not realize that they had just passed the rabbi and the cantor sitting on Golub’s porch.

“And Pitsie Avram now has famous cousins!” Daniel added, as the children continued on their way. “I heard that the Zionist from Zhashkov, Eliyahu Dayan, along with his brother Shmuel, who has been living in the kibbutz Deganyah, near the Sea of Galilee, came to visit him recently.”VI Shmuel Dayan was the father of Moshe Dayan, who would years later become a politician, military hero, and leader in Israel.

The children jumped off the main pathway, allowing a horse and buggy to pass them; they knew that it was owned by Shika de Potch (the nickname for Yehoshua Golditch the Postmaster). It was headed, with a sick passenger in tow, to Count Branicki’s Free Hospital for the Poor, which was a long walk from the Jewish quarter of town. Shika never charged a sick person for using one of the twenty-four stallions or eight buggies that were sitting in his barn.

The children headed toward the brick part of the river, where Daniel lived. His mother, Esther, was expecting a leather boot that Isaac had repaired for her daughter Sarah. The children left the boot by Esther’s door and ran out back to play by the river.

Esther smiled as she watched through her back window, remembering the children’s last delivery just a few months earlier; it was back during the winter, on January 19. The cousins pulled sleds out of a shed and ran eagerly to the frozen Gniloi Tikich River to take a break from their duties. They skidded playfully on the ice and pulled the homemade sleds, made by Yunkel’s skilled hands.

They made their way to the ice while a famous ceremony was held out on the frozen river. The town’s peasantry gathered there once a year to commemorate the baptism of the infant Jesus in the River Jordan. It was the celebration of Epiphany, known as Kreshchenie, the twelfth day of Christmas for Russian Orthodox believers. Christian peasants walked out on the frozen river with their priest.

Jewish mothers, Esther included, whose houses were built along the river, tried each year to distract their children from watching the procession. Even Rebecca instructed Channa not to venture out onto the ice. It wasn’t just fear for their children’s safety out on the ice that drove the women to discourage their children from viewing the ceremony. They were afraid that their children might become influenced as a result of their exposure to anything Christian. However, the women’s efforts were in vain. Despite the objections of their parents, Channa and her cousins, along with many of the Jewish children of Stavishche, watched and were absolutely mesmerized by the beautiful ritual of Epiphany.

During the ceremony, the youngsters looked on as peasants cut a cross out of the ice and prayed as the priest sanctified the water. Some dipped themselves into the cross-shaped ice hole,VII others just bent down to fill their bottles with this water that was considered to be holy. Christian peasants kept the bottled water all year long, believing that it would help heal any sicknesses and would chase evil spirits away.

The young trio’s second-to-last scheduled stop was the fair in Stavishche. Known as the yarid, it was, every day except Tuesday, just an empty plaza with wooden gates near the highway, not far from Channa’s home. Isaac had instructed the children to make two deliveries to merchants at the fair. One merchant was friendly with Daniel’s father, Yunkel. The other delivery was for Avrum, Channa and Daniel’s youngest uncle. Each manned a booth at the fair where Avrum sold wheat and Yunkel sold handmade wagons. During the remainder of the week, they worked at markets in neighboring towns, much like their father, Carl Cutler, had done years earlier.

The fair lasted an entire day. Everyone in Stavishche was either buying or selling in an attempt to make a living. On the day of the fair, there was never an empty space at the market because Christians and Jews sold their wares alongside each other. Stavishche’s rich soil made the cultivation and sale of corn, watermelons, grapes, peaches, and apricots popular at the market. Fresh carp, the tastiest fish in the province, was caught from the surrounding ponds and sold at the fair. Farm goods like potatoes and raw bags of wheat were brought in by horse and wagon.

Those who didn’t have horses used pushcarts. Those who didn’t have wheat brought live chickens. The children wandered near the chickens that were tied by their legs; Channa wasn’t surprised to see the peasants hanging them upside down. Farmers also brought along their pigs and other livestock.

The fair was noisy and lively. Yosl Golub, the handsome son of Soloman the bookstore owner, whom Channa had a crush on, wrote about the market many decades after leaving Stavishche. He perfectly captured the essence of the hustle and bustle that the children experienced that day at the yarid: “When the fair came, everyone was busy with commerce, buying and selling, with lively noisy merriment.… The various sounds of the fair, the shouting and bargaining of buyers and sellers, the cries of drunkards and the music of the beggars playing their banduras, the crying of babies, the neighing of horses, the barking of dogs and the lowing of cattle—all blended into a noisy symphony—the fair in Stavishche.”VIII

The bustling open marketplace in Stavishche was often the scene of many love matches, as well as countless numbers of lovers’ quarrels. For Channa’s mother, Rebecca, it was a glimpse of her long-lost love Isaac at the fair back in 1911 that marked a turning point in reuniting the young couple.

The Stavishche marketplace also played an important role in the life of the great Jewish writer Sholem Aleichem. In 1883, he married Olga “Bibi” Loyev, whose family, the Loyevs and the Mazurs, were prominent Jews with familial ties to Stavishche. Sholem often visited his wife’s father, Elimelich Loyev, at the Stavishche yarid; his first meeting with his father-in-law (at another nearby marketplace) is vividly described in a chapter in the writer’s autobiographical masterpiece, From the Fair.IX

Channa and Daniel spotted their youngest uncle, Avrum Cutler, standing by a nearby table, selling wheat. He gave each child a warm hug.

“I have good news,” he announced. “But you must promise to keep it a secret. I’m about to sign engagement papers; you will soon be dancing at my wedding!”

The children were so excited by Avrum’s news that they forgot all about their final stop at the home of the poritz, a nobleman and customer of Isaac’s who lived near the town’s gates, not far from Count Branicki. Instead, they accidentally abandoned the wooden handcart that held his boots. They made their way back home in the dark, exhausted but elated by their uncle’s happy announcement.


	
I. In 1903-1906, anti-Jewish riots left an estimated one to three thousand Jews dead across Russia. In 1905, these riots flared up in villages surrounding Stavishche.

	
II. This term refers to a false accusation, centuries old, that Jews murdered Christians, in particular young children, to drain and use their blood for the making of Passover matzahs and other ritual purposes.

	
III. Daniel’s mother, Esther Moser Cutler, and Sol’s father, Itzie Moser, were siblings. The boys shared the same grandfather, Cantor David-Yosel Moser.

	
IV. Siegal or Segal officially took on the stage name Pinchik in the 1920s.

	
V. There is a well-known and humorous Yiddish proverb: “Es vet hlefn vi-a toyten bankes” (“It would help like cupping a corpse”).

	
VI. Eliyahu and Shmuel Dayan’s father, Reb Avraham Dayan, was the son of Reb Pinhas, the shohet and dayan “judge” of Zhashkov. They were most likely half brothers who descended from a folk rebbe, Rabbi Aryeh Leib of Uman (1724–1811), known as the “Shpole Zeide.”

	
VII. Although Yasha Kainer didn’t identify the celebration of Epiphany by name, he did describe the ceremony in a story by Emily Bayard.

	
VIII. From a story written by Channa’s childhood acquaintance Yosl Golub, in the Stavishche Yizkor Book.
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